
 

 

Agenda - Reform Bill Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 1, Senedd 

Meeting date: Thursday 5 October 2023 

Meeting time: 09.30

For further information contact: 

Helen Finlayson 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddReform@senedd.wales
------ 

Private pre-meeting (09.15-09.30)  

 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions, and declarations of 

interest 

(09.30)   

 

2 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Ministerial evidence 

session 

(09.30-11.00) (Pages 1 - 52)  

Mick Antoniw MS, Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution 

Will Whiteley, Deputy Director, Senedd Reform, Welsh Government 

Anna Hind, Senior Lawyer, Legal Services, Welsh Government 

 

 

Supporting documents: 

Research brief 

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill 

Explanatory Memorandum 

Statement of Policy Intent 

 

3 Papers to Note 

(11.00)   

 

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------

https://senedd.wales/media/iaifuxyj/pri-ld16037-e.pdf
https://senedd.wales/media/ixjdywtx/pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s139891/Statement%20of%20Policy%20Intent.pdf


 

 

3.1 PTN 3.1 - Technical note from the Welsh Government on the treatment of 

inflation and the use of the HM Treasury discount rate and GDP deflators in 

the Explanatory Memorandum for the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) 

Bill 

 (Pages 53 - 54)  

 

3.2 PTN 3.2 - Letter to the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution 

regarding the anticipated gender quotas Bill – 26 September 2023 

 (Pages 55 - 56)  

 

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 (ix) to resolve to exclude the 

public for the remainder of the meeting 

(11.00)   

 

5 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Consideration of 

evidence 

(11.00-11.15)   

 

6 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: approach to Stage 1 

scrutiny 

(11.15 -  11.20) (Pages 57 - 59)  

Supporting document: 

Paper 1 - Approach to Stage 1 scrutiny



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) iv of Standing Order 17.42



Technical Note – The treatment of inflation and the use of the HM Treasury 
Discount Rate and GDP deflators in the Explanatory Memorandum for the 

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill 

 

Introduction  

This note provides a brief explanation of HM Treasury’s central discount rate and the 
GDP deflator series and outlines how they have been used in the Explanatory 
Memorandum for the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill1 in line with 
established methodology. In summary, both the central discount rate and the GDP 
deflators are used within the Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) in different ways, 
and the GDP deflators are also used in the Affordability Assessment. 

Background 

HM Treasury discount rate 

Discounting is technique which is routinely used in economic appraisal to express 
costs and benefits which occur in future years in present value terms. This enables a 
comparison to be made of alternative projects and options in which the costs and 
benefits occur at different points in time. 

The reason costs and benefits are discounted in economic appraisal is to do with 
Social Time Preference. There are two components to Social Time Preference: 

• Time preference - there is evidence that society would generally prefer to 
consume goods and services now rather than at a later point in time, and 

• Wealth effects - since society generally becomes wealthier over time (in 
real terms), the utility or value gained from consuming goods and services 
in future years is expected to decrease relative to the current time. 

HM Treasury’s central discount rate (3.5%) has been calculated to reflect the rate of 
Social Time Preference, this is applied only to costs and benefits over the short to 
medium term and only where appropriate. 

Lower discount rates should be applied to costs and benefits which impact over the 
long term, and particularly where future generations may be affected. Lower discount 
rates should also be applied to health and life impacts, and to some environmental 
impacts (where wealth effects are not relevant). For intergenerational health, life and 
environmental impacts, very low discount rates may be appropriate. 

In practice, discounting means a declining weight is attached to the monetised costs 
and benefits which occur in each future year of an appraisal. Discounted costs and 
benefits are expressed as being in ‘present value’ terms. 

While the discount rate may vary between countries, the technique of discounting 
costs and benefits to reflect time preference is standard practice, and has been used 
consistently in RIAs for previous Bills.  

1 pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf (senedd.wales) 

RBC(6)-03-23 Papur i'r nodi 3.1 | Paper to note 3.1

Pack Page 53

Agenda Item 3.1

https://senedd.wales/media/ixjdywtx/pri-ld16037-em-e.pdf


 

The GDP deflator 

The GDP deflator is a measure of price changes (i.e. inflation) in the domestic 
economy. It is calculated by HM Treasury using Gross Domestic Product (GDP) data 
produced by the Office for National Statistics (ONS).  

The GDP deflator reflects the prices of all domestically produced goods and services 
in the economy, including Government services. This broad base means it is better 
suited to inflating/deflating public expenditure flows than other headline measures of 
inflation such as the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) or the Retail Prices Index (RPI). 

The GDP deflator series is commonly used to remove the effects of inflation from 
time series data (hence the name) but it can equally be used to adjust data to 
include inflation.      

 

How HM Treasury’s discount rate has been used in the RIA  

Having produced a best estimate of the costs of the Bill, those costs have been 
discounted using HM Treasury’s central discount rate of 3.5% in order to calculate 
the present value (PV) of costs and the Net Present Value (NPV) of the Bill. These 
are recorded in the main RIA summary table on pages 125-128 of the Explanatory 
Memorandum. Unless otherwise stated, all other figures presented in the RIA are 
undiscounted. 

 

How the GDP deflator series has been used in the RIA 

The GDP deflator series has been used to uprate ‘historic’ cost data in order to 
ensure all costs share a common price base year in the RIA. To give an example, the 
data we have on ballot paper printing costs is from 2021. The GDP deflator series 
has been used to uprate this 2021 cost to 2022-23 prices (the base year used 
throughout the analysis). 

While historic costs have been uprated to reflect inflation, the forward-looking cost 
projections in the RIA have not been adjusted to include expected future inflation. 
This is in line with the guidance in HM Treasury’s Green Book2 which states ‘Costs 
and benefits in appraisal of social value should be estimated in ‘real’ base year 
prices. This means the effects of general inflation should be removed.’  

 

How the GDP deflator series has been used in the affordability assessment 

It has been agreed that the Explanatory Memoranda for all Bills introduced in the 
Senedd from Year 3 of the Legislative Programme will include an affordability 

2 The Green Book (publishing.service.gov.uk) 

RBC(6)-03-23 Papur i'r nodi 3.1 | Paper to note 3.1

Pack Page 54

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1063330/Green_Book_2022.pdf


assessment in addition to the RIA. This change has been made in response to 
recommendations made by Finance Committee.  

One of the main differences between the RIA and the affordability assessment is the 
latter does include general price inflation for future years. For the reason outlined 
above, the GDP deflator series is considered to be the most appropriate price index 
for adjusting the cost estimates to take into account expected inflation.   

The Office for Budget Responsibility (OBR) presents a forecast for the GDP deflator 
in the Economic and Fiscal Outlook (EFO) publication which accompanies the 
Chancellor of the Exchequer’s annual Spring Budget and Autumn Statements. The 
forecasts in the Spring 2023 EFO3 (the latest available) were used to adjust the cost 
estimates in the affordability assessment for the Senedd Cymru (Members and 
Elections) Bill. 

The costs in the affordability analysis have not been discounted using HM Treasury’s 
central discount rate.  

 
 
Economics and Fiscal Analysis 
Welsh Treasury 
September 2023  

3 Economic and fiscal outlook - March 2023 - Office for Budget Responsibility (obr.uk) 

RBC(6)-03-23 Papur i'r nodi 3.1 | Paper to note 3.1

Pack Page 55

https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-fiscal-outlook-march-2023/#:%7E:text=1.4%20Stronger%20real%20wage%20growth,the%20second%20quarter%20of%202022.


 

 

 

 

26 September 2023 

Dear Mick 

Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: interdependency with the anticipated gender quotas Bill 

In his statement on the Welsh Government’s legislative programme on 27 June 2023, the First 

Minister announced that in addition to a Bill to reform the Senedd’s size, electoral system and 

boundary arrangements, the Welsh Government intended to bring forward a Bill to introduce 

candidate-level gender quotas for Senedd elections (the “gender quotas Bill”). The Explanatory 

Memorandum for the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill (the “SC(ME) Bill”) indicates that the 

Welsh Government also intends to include provision in future legislation for the publication of 

diversity information in respect of Senedd candidates. 

While the gender quotas Bill will be a separate piece of legislation, subject in due course to scrutiny in 

its own right, it is inevitable that there will be a degree of interdependency between any such Bill and 

the SC(ME) Bill. This is because any candidate-level quotas that are introduced will need to operate 

within the context of the electoral system, boundaries and disqualification provisions the SC(ME) Bill 

seeks to establish. 

We would be grateful if you could: 

1) Confirm whether a draft of the gender quotas Bill will be published in advance of its formal 

introduction. If the Welsh Government does not propose to publish a draft Bill, please confirm 

the reasons for this, and indicate whether an advanced copy of the Bill could be shared with 

us, in confidence, prior to its formal introduction. 

 

Y Pwyllgor Biliau Diwygio 
— 
Reform Bill Committee 

Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd, Caerdydd, CF99 1SN 

SeneddDiwygio@enedd.cymru 
senedd.cymru/SeneddDiwygio 

0300 200 6565 

— 
Welsh Parliament 

Cardiff Bay, Cardiff, CF99 1SN 
SeneddReform@senedd.wales 

senedd.wales/SeneddReform 
0300 200 6565 

Mick Antoniw MS 

Counsel General 

Welsh Government 

Pack Page 55

Agenda Item 3.2



 

 

2) Provide us with further information about the objectives and proposed legislative approach 

the Welsh Government anticipates pursuing in the gender quotas Bill. This should include 

information about the following, in addition to any other information you consider relevant: 

a. The purpose of introducing candidate-level gender quotas for Senedd elections, including 

a consideration of the aim(s) the Welsh Government is seeking to achieve through their 

introduction. 

b. The proposed policy to be given effect in the gender quotas Bill, including the anticipated 

design and operation of candidate-level gender quotas, and how compliance will be 

enforced. 

c. An assessment of the implications the proposed policy may reasonably be expected to 

have for the operation and implementation of the electoral system proposed in the 

SC(ME) Bill, including, but not limited to, the submission of candidate lists to constituency 

returning officers (section 7(1)), the length of candidate lists (section 7(3)), and candidate 

eligibility for filling vacant seats (section 9)). 

d. Information about how such implications have been taken into account in the assessment 

of the financial and other impacts in the Explanatory Memorandum to the SC(ME) Bill. This 

should include details of which of the financial or other impact assessments would have 

been substantively different had provision regarding gender quotas been included in the 

SC(ME) Bill, and, if so, how. 

It would be helpful to receive your response by 3 November 2023. 

This letter is being copied to the Finance Committee and the Legislation, Justice and Constitution 

Committee, and the Deputy Minister for Social Partnership, as we understand that she will be the 

Member in charge for the gender quotas Bill. 

Yours sincerely 

 

 

David Rees MS 

Chair, Reform Bill Committee 

cc Peredur Owen Griffiths MS, Chair, Finance Committee 

Huw Irranca Davies MS, Chair, Legislation, Justice and Constitution Committee 

Hannah Blythyn MS, Deputy Minister for Social Partnership 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu Saesneg. We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Pack Page 56



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 57

Agenda Item 6By virtue of paragraph(s) iv of Standing Order 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: Ministerial evidence session
	3.1 PTN 3.1 - Technical note from the Welsh Government on the treatment of inflation and the use of the HM Treasury discount rate and GDP deflators in the Explanatory Memorandum for the Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill
	3.2 PTN 3.2 - Letter to the Counsel General and Minister for the Constitution regarding the anticipated gender quotas Bill – 26 September 2023
	6 Senedd Cymru (Members and Elections) Bill: approach to Stage 1 scrutiny



